STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jul 08 2020

Appeal from Greenville County

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PHILLIP WAYNE LOWERY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-002242

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial court err in admitting Appellant's statement where he was the subject of custodial interrogation and his statements were not made freely and voluntarily, where law enforcement would not let him use the restroom and admitted he was not free to leave?

II. Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss Appellant's charge, where the dashcam video failed to comply with the driving under the influence statute and did not include all of the field sobriety tests administered or any of the officers reading Appellant his Miranda rights?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Greenville County grand jury on June 5, 2018 for driving under the influence. R. 152. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell and a jury on December 12, 2018. J. Max Gravlee represented Appellant; Brann Fowler appeared on behalf of the state. R. 1. After a two-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 144, ll. 1 – 8. Judge Stilwell sentenced Appellant to two years' incarceration.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in admitting Appellant’s statement where he was the subject of custodial interrogation and his statements were not made freely and voluntarily, where law enforcement would not let him use the restroom and admitted he was not free to leave.

Standard of Review

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (“quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “ An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

Relevant facts

Neither of the two witnesses called by the state at Appellant’s trial observed him driving a car at any point on the night he was arrested. David Vallin, an officer with the South Carolina Highway Patrol, could not remember vital details from the night, January 26, 2018. R. 102, l. 6 – R. 104, l. 21. During direct examination, he could not recall whether Appellant was inside or around his daughter’s car, a red SUV, in a gas station parking lot when law enforcement arrived. Id. He was likewise unsure whether Appellant even had keys to the car at the time. Id. The state admitted the dashcam video from Vallin’s car as an exhibit, and it was published to the jury. R. 105, l. 20 – R. 107, l. 5; State’s Exhibit 1.

Vallin, who had been a trooper for approximately three years at the time of Appellant's trial, did not prepare an incident report. R. 110, l. 22 – R. 112, l. 15. Additionally, he did not take any photographs or write down any notes. Id.

Brandon McNeely was the state's only other witness. At the time of trial, he had been with the South Carolina Highway Patrol for almost two years. R. 115, ll. 1 – 16. Like Vallin, he arrived at the gas station parking lot on January 26, 2018. Id. McNeely remarked that the gas station had outdoor cameras and that he neglected to even consider obtaining that footage. R. 123, ll. 15 – 24.

The video from McNeely's car was admitted as State's Exhibit 2 and published to the jury. R. 119, l. 21 – R. 121, l. 6; State's Exhibit 2. McNeely indicated that Appellant showed signs of impairment. R. 121, ll. 8 – 20. Appellant also urinated on himself. R. 122, ll. 18 – 24. McNeely arrested Appellant and then read him his Miranda rights. R. 123, l. 25 – R. 124, l. 8.

McNeely freely admitted that Appellant was not allowed to use the restroom. Appellant twice urinated on himself because law enforcement refused to allow him to use the restroom. R. 77, l. 15 – R. 78, l. 8. McNeely suggested that he was investigating a crime at the time when Appellant said he needed to use the restroom. R. 78, ll. 18 – 24. He candidly disclosed that Appellant was the subject of the investigation. Id.

After offering the testimony of Vallin and McNeely, the state rested. R. 79, ll. 8 – 10. Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that the state failed to prove the *corpus delicti* in the case. R. 83, l. 4 – R. 85, l. 20. He argued that neither trooper witnessed Appellant or anyone else driving the red SUV, that there was no testimony regarding scrape marks or the temperature of the car, and that there was no proof Appellant had been driving.

The assistant solicitor opined, in response, that Appellant’s statement from the dashcam videos was “excellent evidence and certainly enough for a jury question as to whether or not he was driving.” R. 85, l. 23 – R. 86, l. 20. The trial judge denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict. R. 87, l. 16 – R. 88, l. 11.

Discussion

Vallin testified *in camera* at a Jackson v. Denno¹ hearing. He claimed to have received a call from the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office “saying that they believe that they had located” a car, in a Spinx parking lot, which they contended had left the scene of an accident. R. 8, ll. 8 – 15. Vallin plainly admitted to questioning Appellant near the red SUV in the Spinx parking lot after he arrived. R. 9, ll. 7 – 22. Vallin indicated that “maybe three or four” other officers were nearby at the time of the questioning. All were in uniform and armed. R. 13, ll. 8 – 23. The blue lights from officers’ cars were flashing. R. 14, ll. 18 – 20. Appellant was not handcuffed at the time, but he was not free to leave. R. 10, ll. 3 – 25. Vallin claimed that his questioning of Appellant was part of an investigation into a car accident. Id.

If Appellant had attempted to leave, law enforcement officers would have used to force to restrain him; he was not allowed to leave. R. 15, ll. 2 – 21. Vallin never advised Appellant that he could leave or that he was free to terminate the interrogation at any point. Id. During the questioning, Appellant inquired if he would be allowed to call someone; he was told no. R. 15, ll. 2 – 14. Vallin believed Appellant was involved in the prior collision. Id. Notably, Vallin admitted that the answers Appellant gave, coupled with the tests he was given at the scene, led to Appellant’s arrest. R. 16, ll. 18 – 22.

¹ 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 12 L.Ed.2d 908 (1964).

Counsel for Appellant correctly argued that Appellant was in custody and should have been notified of his rights:

Your Honor, I believe this [is] a plain, clear custodial interrogation. He's not free to leave, that was directly from the trooper's mouth. He said he couldn't leave. Said if he ran away they would have apprehended him, made sure that he would have [to] stand there. I'm not sure how much [more] custodial [that] can be.

R. 18, l. 11 – R. 21, l. 4. Counsel cited State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2013) and requested that Appellant's statement be suppressed. The assistant solicitor suggested that the officers were investigating the accident. R. 21, l. 6 – R. 22, l. 6.

The trial judge found the statements and dashcam videos to be admissible. R. 22, l. 7 – R. 23, l. 10. The court found “objectively that he was not in custody at the time.” Id.

Counsel for Appellant successfully argued that the state's witnesses should not refer to the accident; the trial judge ruled that any references to the prior accident were inadmissible unless the other party from the accident testified. R. 26, ll. 7 – 18; R. 31 ll. 19 – 23. As such, the trial court questioned how the state was going to establish driving, and the assistant solicitor divulged the importance of Appellant's statement in the video:

Judge, in relative part to that video right there, the Defendant said, I left wild country the bar. I pulled in here, I was the only person in the car. I was turning in here to get something to eat. I was turning in here to change my tire. I guess I screwed up, I can't lie. If I hit anybody I'm sorry.

And that would be, you know, pretty essential part of my evidence. I understand where [defense counsel] is coming from and I'm not trying to try a hit and run or a traffic wreck case here by any means.

R. 25, ll. 16 – 1.

In Jackson v. Denno 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court indicated “that a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or

falsity of the confession.” Accordingly, a defendant has the right to object to the use of the confession and to have a fair hearing and a reliable determination on the issue of voluntariness. Id. at 376–77. “In order to introduce into evidence a confession arising from custodial interrogation, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).” State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 512, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2010).

The state may not use statements stemming from custodial interrogations of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege of self-incrimination. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444, 86 S.Ct. 1602, (1966). Custodial interrogation entails questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. Id. Interrogation can be either express questioning or its functional equivalent and includes words or actions on the part of police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996), aff’d as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).

Whether a suspect was in “custody is determined by an objective analysis of ‘whether a reasonable man in the suspect's position would have understood himself to be in custody.’ ”

State v. Ledford, 351 S.C. 83, 88, 567 S.E.2d 904, 907 (Ct. App. 2002). “To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” State v. Evans, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582

S.E.2d 407, 410 (2003). A person is “in custody” when a person's freedom has been restricted. State v. Caulder, 287 S.C. 507, 515, 339 S.E.2d 876, 881 (Ct.App.1986).

The Miranda warnings are not required if the defendant is not in custody or significantly deprived of his freedom. State v. Neely, 271 S.C. 33, 40, 244 S.E.2d 522, 526 (1978). To determine whether a suspect was in custody for the purposes of Miranda, the Supreme Court has asked whether there is a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest. Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 112, 130 S.Ct. 1213, 175 L.Ed.2d 1045 (2010).

In Morgan v. State, Robert Morgan and a man named Dotson returned to the scene of an accident in a Camaro after the Mustang they were racing wrecked. 282 S.C. 409, 410, 319 S.E.2d 335, 336 (1984). The Camaro was not involved in the accident, but Morgan admitted to having driven it. Id. He also admitted to using alcohol and marijuana. Id. He was not given any Miranda warnings. Id. Morgan’s statements, the only evidence that he had been driving the Camaro, were found to be voluntary and admissible. Id. at 411, 319 S.E.2d at 336.

In holding that Miranda warnings were not required, the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

A traffic accident had just occurred. Dotson volunteered the information that he and [Morgan] had seen the accident. What followed was a routine investigation into the cause. The statements made by [Morgan] were made during the course of this routine investigation. Miranda warnings were not required.

Morgan at 411-412, 319 S.E.2d 335, 336-337 (internal citations omitted).

The present case can be distinguished from Morgan in numerous ways. Morgan and Dotson returned to the scene of the accident. As such, they likely felt free to leave. Appellant was surrounded by law enforcement officers and undoubtedly the sole focal point of their attention. The uncontradicted testimony by witnesses at Appellant’s trial is that he was not free

to leave. Therefore, Morgan is inapplicable; Appellant was in custody and not free to leave. He was not allowed to use the restroom and was forced to urinate on himself. The interrogation was not “temporary and brief” as was the case in Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317 (1984).

The questioning of Appellant was not incident to an ordinary traffic stop. He was in custody, as admitted by the state’s witnesses. Appellant likely felt completely at the mercy of the police, especially after he was denied the opportunity to use the restroom. There was never a pathway that led to Appellant leaving the parking lot in anything other than handcuffs.

Appellant’s freedom of action was curtailed to a “degree associated with formal arrest.” California v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125, 103 S.Ct. 3517, 3520, 77 L.Ed.2d 1275 (1983). Even if a motorist who has been detained pursuant to a traffic stop is thereafter subjected to treatment that renders him “in custody” for practical purposes, he will be entitled to the full panoply of protections prescribed by Miranda. Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495, 97 S.Ct. 711, 714, 50 L.Ed.2d 714 (1977).

Law enforcement admitted Appellant was a suspect. He was not free to leave and therefore was in custody. He was deprived of the ability to use the restroom, and he was not allowed to make a telephone call to his sister. The questions asked by Vallin were designed to elicit an incriminating response, and Appellant’s answers to the questions were described by the assistant solicitor as “excellent evidence” and “certainly enough for a jury question as to whether or not he was driving.” R. 85, l. 23 – R. 86, l. 20. Appellant was asked how much he had to drink; this was irrelevant to the accident. See State v. Medley, 417 S.C. 18, 787 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 2016). His statement should have been suppressed.

II. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss Appellant’s charge, where the dashcam video failed to comply with the driving under the influence statute and did not include all of the field sobriety tests administered, or any of the officers reading Appellant his Miranda rights.

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Thus, on review, the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion.” State v. Garris, 394 S.C. 336, 344, 714 S.E.2d 888, 893 (Ct. App. 2011) (citations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” Id. (citations omitted).

Discussion

Appellant moved for dismissal of the charges “for failure to meet the requirements as required under the DUI law” because the state failed to include in the dashcam video the field sobriety tests and the administering of Appellant’s Miranda rights. R. 116, l. 22 – R. 117, l. 14. The trial judge found that the state “substantially complied with the requirements under the law.” R. 117, ll. 22 – 24. The court ruled that “the video itself was introduced into evidence and ... that is the requirement.” R. 117, l. 22 – R. 118, l. 3.

Appellant was alleged to have driven under the influence, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930. R. 152. “A person who violates Section 56-5-2930... must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath side video recorded.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953. The video recording at the incident site must include any field sobriety tests administered and include the arrest of a person for driving under the influence and show the person being advised of his

Miranda rights. Id. Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge ... **“if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest ... was in an inoperable condition.”** S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(i). (emphasis added). No affidavits were offered by law enforcement in this case.

A violation of this section may result in dismissal of the DUI charges. S.C.Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B); see also City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 17, 646 S.E.2d 879, 881 (2007) (holding dismissal of DUI charge is an appropriate remedy if the officer fails to produce a satisfactory video recording unless an exception applies).

It is not possible to determine if Appellant actually heard and understood his Miranda rights. The officers failed to capture the arrest and Miranda warnings on the videotape. The trial court in the matter *sub judice* abused its discretion in finding that the video complied with the statutory requirements. State v. Kinard, 427 S.C. 367, 831 S.E.2d 138 (Ct. App. 2019). Petitioner’s charge should have been dismissed.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his conviction and dismiss the charge against him, or in the alternative, remand the case for a new trial.