STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jul 09 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002242

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

PHILLIP WAYNE LOWERY,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ANALYSIS

I.

The trial judge properly allowed the State to introduce evidence of Appellant's incriminating statements because they were not made during a custodial interrogation, but during a routine traffic stop which did not require Miranda warnings.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in allowing the State to introduce Appellant's incriminating statements in which he, among other things, admitted to driving his vehicle that night. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Appellant's statements were non-custodial and made during a routine traffic investigation by officers. Accordingly, they were properly admissible as evidence at trial.

Miranda warnings are designed to protect several constitutional rights of an accused, most importantly, the privilege against self-incrimination. State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 374 S.E.2d 284 (1988). In order to assure that an accused's right to remain silent is not compromised during custodial interrogation, the United States Supreme Court ruled that "[p]rior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, either retained or appointed." Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). "A statement, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the person was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights under Miranda" State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 302, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996) aff'd as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).

The special procedural safeguards outlined in Miranda are not required if a suspect is simply taken into custody, but only if a suspect in custody is subjected to interrogation. Id., at 303, 479 S.E.2d at 842 (Ct. App. 1996) aff'd as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).

The interrogation requirement of Miranda is met by express questioning or its functional equivalent, and includes words or actions the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit incriminating responses from a criminal suspect. Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291 (1980); State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989); Kennedy, 333 S.C. at 426, 510 S.E.2d at 714. Volunteered statements not made in response to custodial interrogation do not require Miranda warnings. Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.S. 520 (1987). Miranda warnings are inapplicable to volunteered statements not the product of interrogation. State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989). In Howard, the court stated:

In formulating a definition of interrogation, the [Innis] Court pointed out that “the concern of the Court in Miranda was that the ‘interrogation environment’ created by the interplay of interrogation and custody would ‘subjugate the individual to the will of his examiner’ and thereby undermine the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination.” The Court noted that interrogation must reflect a measure of compulsion above and beyond that inherent in custody itself.

296 S.C. at 488, 374 S.E.2d at 288 (emphasis added).

Notably, courts have repeatedly found that the questioning of a motorist during a routine traffic stop is not considered “custodial interrogation” for the purposes of Miranda. In Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held that a traffic stop, although considered a “seizure” pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, was not a situation considered unduly coercive which required the issuing of Miranda warnings to a seized person for two primary reasons: (1) detention of a motorist during a traffic stop is “presumptively temporary and brief” and a motorist expects that he or she will most likely be allowed to continue on his or her way, a situation drastically different from an interrogation at a police station which is presumptively long and will continue until the individual provides interrogators with the information they seek; and (2) circumstances associated with a typical traffic stop are

not such that the motorist feels he or she is “completely at the mercy of the police” because the public location of such detainment, which allows for the presence of witnesses and passing motorists “reduces the ability of an unscrupulous policeman to use illegitimate means to elicit self-incriminating statements and diminishes the motorist's fear that, if he does not cooperate, he will be subjected to abuse.” Id. at 437–39.

Due to these two important factors, the Berkemer court found routine traffic stops to be analogous to Terry stops which allow officers to investigate individuals and circumstances which “provoke suspicion” by asking a detained individual a “moderate number of questions” to determine identity and obtain information proving or dispelling an officer’s suspicions. Notably, a detainee is only arrested in such situations if his or her answers provide an officer with problem cause to initiate the arrest. Id. at 439.

In Morgan, the Supreme Court of South Carolina cited with approval to Berkemer and its ruling that routine investigation into the cause of a traffic accident, and a defendant’s statements made during such investigation, were not custodial interrogations requiring Miranda warnings. Id. at 411–12, 319 S.E.2d 336–37. In State v. Peele, 298 S.C. 63, 378 S.E.2d 254 (1989), the Supreme Court, citing to both Berkemer and Morgan, specifically stated sobriety tests performed during routine traffic stops were non-custodial interrogations which did not require the issuance of Miranda warnings. Id. at 64–66, 378 S.E.2d at 255–56.

In the instant case, Appellant’s questioning by police officers was not a “custodial interrogation” requiring Miranda warnings. Just because Appellant was not free to leave while he was being questioned does not convert the traffic stop into a custodial interrogation; notably, every traffic stop involves some detention. When stopped by police, motorists must pull over and answer questions from police before being allowed to continue on their way. Notably,

Appellant's questioning by police occurred in an even less-intrusive setting than most traffic stops: (1) Officer Vallin did not "stop" Appellant, Appellant chose to stop at the gas station without any involvement from police; and (2) the questioning took place in the parking lot of the gas station, a much more "public" place than the side of a road.

Further, Officer Vallin's intent to, eventually, arrest Appellant is a non-factor in determining both whether Appellant was in a custodial interrogation or the voluntariness of his statements: the Berkemer court specifically noted "[a] policeman's unarticulated plan has no bearing on the question of whether a suspect was 'in custody' at a particular time; the only relevant inquiry is how a reasonable man in the suspect's position would have understood his situation." Id. at 468 U.S. at 442. As noted above, Appellant chose to speak to officers in a public place after he, of his own volition, pulled his car into the gas station. Officer Vallin never informed Appellant he was under arrest until after he had performed poorly during his field sobriety tests. Accordingly, the trial judge properly admitted Appellant's incriminating statements into evidence.

Public Safety Exception

Should the court conclude the statements made by Appellant were interrogative in nature, the State submits the questions fall within the public safety exception to Miranda delineated in New York v. Quarles, 467 U.S. 649 (1984). In Quarles, a woman approached two police officers who were on road patrol and told them that she had just been raped. Id. at 649. The victim described her assailant, and told them that the man had just entered a nearby supermarket and was carrying a gun. Id. While one of the officers radioed for assistance, the other entered the store and saw the defendant, who ran toward the rear of the store. Id. The officer pursued him but lost sight of him for several seconds. Id. Upon apprehending the defendant, the officer frisked him and discovered that he was wearing an empty shoulder holster. Id. After handcuffing him,

the officer asked him where the gun was. Id. Defendant nodded toward some empty cartons and responded that “the gun is over there.” Id. The officer then retrieved the gun from one of the cartons, formally arrested respondent, and read him his Miranda rights. Id. The court created a public safety exception to the Miranda warnings, saying:

[T]he need for answers to questions in a situation posing a threat to the public safety outweighs the need for the prophylactic rule protecting the Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination. We decline to place officers such as Officer Kraft in the untenable position of having to consider, often in a matter of seconds, whether it best serves society for them to ask the necessary questions without the Miranda warnings and render whatever probative evidence they uncover inadmissible, or for them to give the warnings in order to preserve the admissibility of evidence they might uncover but possibly damage or destroy their ability to obtain that evidence and neutralize the volatile situation confronting them.

Id. at 657.

The trial court judge applied this reasoning in the instant case. Officers were investigating a serious car accident in which the second vehicle fled the scene. Just over a mile away from the scene of the accident, officers found a badly damaged vehicle which appeared to be the vehicle which fled that scene. Officers needed to find the driver and other potential occupants of the vehicle due to the potential injuries by those in car and for the possibility that the driver of the vehicle may try to operate the vehicle again, which due to his own impairment or the existing damage to the vehicle, could cause additional accidents or harm. As soon as officers began questioning Appellant, the officers had good reason to believe he was under the influence of some intoxicant, but they did not know the nature or the amount of the substance Appellant consumed. For his safety, and for those of the bystanders around them, the officers needed to assess the volatile situation quickly. Thus, should the Court find Appellant's initial questioning

was asked during a custodial interrogation, the question and its incriminating response falls within the narrow public safety exception to Miranda, and is thereby admissible.

II.

The trial judge properly denied the motion to dismiss Appellant's charge where the dashcam video recording depicted the issuing of Miranda warnings to Appellant, but those warnings were not played for the jury due to technical issues with the edited dashcam video. Further, the recording statute does not require jurors actually view the issuing of Miranda warnings, which are irrelevant to the non-custodial statements made by Appellant and shown in the recording.

Appellant claims the trial judge erred in denying his motion to dismiss his charges because the recording of the traffic stop did not show the officers issuing Miranda warnings to him. The State disagrees with this allegation of error for several reasons. First, the video did, in fact, contain the relevant Miranda warnings, but those warnings were not shown to the jury; nothing in the relevant Statutes require that the jury see the issuing of Miranda warnings. Furthermore, the evidence submitted on that second recording, mainly Appellant's performance during field sobriety testing, was non-custodial in nature and did not require any prior Miranda warnings. Finally, S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B) gives judges the discretion to "consider[] any other valid reason for the failure to produce the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances," and the technical difficulties acknowledged by the trial judge and the parties is a more-than-adequate justification for the State's failure to play that portion of the video to the jury.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930(A):

It is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within this State while under the influence of alcohol to the extent that the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired, under the influence of any other drug or a combination of other drugs or substances which cause impairment to the extent that the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired, or under the combined influence of alcohol and any other drug or drugs or substances which cause

impairment to the extent that the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired.

(Supp. 2014).

Section 56-5-2953 requires:

(A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.

(1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:

(i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;

(ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and

(iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and **show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.**

...

(B) Nothing in this section may be construed as prohibiting the introduction of other relevant evidence in the trial of a violation of Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945. Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, or video equipment at the breath test facility was in an inoperable condition, stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed. In circumstances including, but not limited to, road blocks, traffic accident investigations, and citizens' arrests, where an arrest has been made and the video recording equipment has not been activated by blue lights, the failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recordings required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal. However, as soon as video recording is practicable in these circumstances, video recording must begin and conform with the provisions of this section. **Nothing in this section prohibits**

the court from considering any other valid reason for the failure to produce the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances; nor do the provisions of this section prohibit the person from offering evidence relating to the arresting law enforcement officer's failure to produce the video recording.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)–(B) (Supp. 2014) (emphasis added).

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain meaning of the statute and the intent of the legislature. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008). A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Id. at 33, 667 S.E.2d at 733. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself. Id.

“Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” Pittman, 373 S.C. at 561, 647 S.E.2d at 161. However, the statute must also be read as a whole and in harmony with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010). Accordingly, “[a] statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.” Browning v. Hartvigsen, 307 S.C. 122, 125, 414 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1992). “The statute must be interpreted with realistic circumstances and rationales in mind.” State v. Elwell, 396 S.C. 330, 336, 721 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2011)(emphasis added); State v. Baker, 310 S.C. 510, 512, 427 S.E.2d 670, 672 (1993) (“A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.”). Courts will reject an interpretation of a statute leading to an absurd result clearly unintended by the legislature. See Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000); Ray Bell Constr. Co. v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County, 331 S.C. 19, 26, 501 S.E.2d 725, 729 (1998)

(“However plain the ordinary meaning of the words used in the statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature. . . .”).

“[T]he primary intention section 56-5-2953 was to reduce the number of DUI trials heard as swearing contests by mandating the State videotape important events in the process of collecting DUI evidence.” Elwell, 396 S.C. at 336, 721 S.E.2d at 454. This Court has explained: “the purpose of section 56-5-2953 . . . is to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest.” Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 347, 713 S.E.2d 278, 285 (2011).

Initially, the State notes nothing in §§ 56-5-2930 or 56-5-2953 requires that the jury actually be shown the issuance of Miranda warnings to a defendant; the presence of the Miranda warnings is solely related to whether the trial judge should admit the video into evidence and is not included as an element of the offense defined with S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930. In fact, § 56-5-2930(J)(3) specifically allows for “a video recording of the person's conduct at the incident site and breath testing site taken pursuant Section 56-5-2953 . . . **subject to redaction under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.**” (emphasis added). Notably, the parties and trial judge all knew the Miranda warnings were present on the original and edited recordings. In fact, trial counsel participated in the redaction of the videos with the State to ensure they complied with the requirements set forth by the trial judge, and the copies of the recording currently possessed by the parties all contain the portion of the video in which Appellant is given Miranda warnings. It would be an extreme act to reverse Appellant’s conviction when the recording of his sobriety tests complied with the letter of the law. Further, it is counterintuitive to exclude the use of **non-custodial** statements made by Appellant based solely on the presence of Miranda warnings, a requirement for **custodial** statements.

Appellant claims that failure to play the portion of the video including the Miranda warnings to the jury is problematic for Appellant's conviction because "[i]t is not possible to determine if Appellant actually heard and understood his Miranda rights." (Br. of Appellant p.11). What Appellant fails to recognize is this very statement illustrates why the presence of Miranda warnings was unimportant to the jury's deliberations: Miranda warnings were not required to be given to Appellant before Officer McNeely conducted the field sobriety tests because, as explained supra in Issue I, field sobriety testing is not considered "custodial interrogation" for the purposes of Miranda. See, e.g., Peele, 298 S.C. at 64–66, 378 S.E.2d at 255–56. In fact, field sobriety testing is an important factor in determining whether probable cause exists for an arrest for driving while intoxicated. See Lapp v. SCDMV, 387 S.C. 500, 505–06, 692 S.E.2d 565, 568–69. (Ct. App. 2010).

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